COURT OF APPEALS

2013 JUN -3 AM 9: 10

No. 44168-3-II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Mason County Superior Court No. 12-1-00123-5

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Plaintiff-Appellee, v.

TRAVIS C. BAZE, Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR MASON COUNTY

The Honorable Amber L. Finley, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

David B. Zuckerman

Attorney for Appellant 1300 Hoge Building 705 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 623-1595

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. ERRORS REGARDING CRR 3.5 HEARING FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

Finding of Fact 10: The trial court found that Mr. Baze "understood his rights as advised." It appears that the court is referring here to the initial reading of rights. To the extent this finding might suggest that Baze understood his rights *after* the ensuing colloquy with the detectives, Baze assigns error. Further, such a finding should be treated as a legal conclusion.

Finding of Fact 12: The trial court found that, after Mr. Baze made an equivocal request for an attorney, the detectives limited their discussion to "clarifying" the defendant's wishes. This is actually a legal conclusion based on the undisputed facts, which are the words said during the recorded interrogation. In the alternative, if this could be characterized as a factual finding then the trial court erred in Finding of Fact 1, which states that there are no disputed facts, since the defense did dispute that the detectives limited their questioning to clarification.

Conclusions of Law 4-10: These paragraphs essentially explain why the court believes Mr. Baze's recorded statement to be admissible. Baze assigns error to all these conclusions.

B. ERROR REGARDING JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE

The trial court should have granted Baze's request to vacate his convictions for assault and robbery because they are barred by the Double Jeopardy Clause.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Before speaking to the detectives about the crime, Mr. Baze asked "do I need an attorney?" In response, the detectives told him he could not have an attorney that night, and that an attorney would in any event tell him not to talk. The detectives also strongly implied that if he did not present his side of the story that night, they would assume the worst when filing charges. They also told him that his "honesty" was important for bail determinations and that he would feel better if he talked. Under those circumstances was Baze's relinquishment of his right to counsel made knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily?
- 2. Did the detectives' misleading statements violate CrR 3.1(c)?
- 3. Should the Court find that under Article I, section 9 of the Washington Constitution, the detectives were required to limit their questioning to clarifying Baze's wishes after he made an equivocal request for an attorney? The Washington Supreme Court has recently decided *sua sponte* to decide this issue in *State v. Pianitsky*, No. 87904-4.

- 4. Did the detectives limit their questioning to clarification?
- 5. Mr. Baze was convicted of assault, robbery, and felony murder based on robbery. Does the Double Jeopardy clause require the assault and robbery charges to be vacated?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves an assault on Shawn Morrow by Stephen Churchill, which took place on March 26, 2012 in Shelton, Washington. At the time of the incident, Travis Baze was a 28-year-old man, working full time at his father's restaurant in Shelton. RP 478-79. He and his girlfriend, Ashley McCord, had recently moved into a cabin on the grounds of the home Churchill shared with his girlfriend, Jennifer Hansen. Tr. Ex. 70 at 12¹; RP 335.

Hansen and Churchill were drug dealers. RP 326-27. On February 8, 2012, they were arrested based on information provided by Shawn Morrow, who was working as a confidential informant for the police. RP 171, 176-78, 329. Morrow had a long history of drug abuse and burglary. RP 131 (testimony of Morrow's mother); RP 341 (testimony of detective

¹ "Tr. Ex." stands for Trial Exhibit, and "PTr. Ex." stands for pretrial exhibit. Tr. Ex. 70 is the transcript of the redacted recording of Baze's statement to the detectives, which was presented to the jury when it heard the recording. The CD of the redacted recording is Tr. Ex. 69.

Ledford). After Hansen and Churchill likewise agreed to be informants, they were released. RP 329-31. When they returned home, they learned that Morrow had broken into the house and stolen their property. RP 332. They contacted the detective working with Morrow but he declined to assist in recovering the property. RP 329, 332-33.

Baze was not living with Churchill and Hansen at the time of these events. RP 343. He and Ashley McCord moved there in the first or second week of March, 2012. RP 382; Tr. Ex. 70 at 1.

After some unsuccessful attempts to confront Morrow, (RP 133-34) Churchill and Hansen decided to arrange a drug deal with Morrow, who was a heroin addict. Tr. Ex. 70 at 1. To disguise their identity they used Baze's cell phone, since Baze and Morrow did not know each other. *Id.* at 1-2; RP 385-86. *See also* RP 434-58. Detective Rhoades conceded that he could not determine who was using Baze's phone. RP 465. Ultimately, a deal was arranged to take place on August 26, 2012, at a public fishing park. Tr. Ex. 70 at 2-3.

At Churchill's request, Baze drove the two of them to the park. Tr. Ex. 70 at 2-3. Baze did not know what Churchill planned to do (*id.* at 2), but began to get concerned after they arrived because Churchill was becoming "antsy." *Id.* at 4. When Morrow showed up, Churchill jumped out of the car and hit him in the head with a baseball bat. *Id.* at 4-5.

Morrow fell to the ground. *Id.* Churchill picked up the \$45 Morrow brought for the heroin. *Id.* at 11. He then ran back into the car and yelled for Baze to drive away, but Baze did not leave until he saw Morrow stand up and seem to be okay. *Id.* at 5. Baze never left the driver's seat of his car. *Id.* at 19; RP 430. Ms. Hansen confirmed that Churchill was the one who assaulted Morrow. RP 468-69.

Baze and Churchill then returned home. Morrow managed to drive a short way before pulling into a gas station. RP 146. He was taken away in an ambulance after a passerby called for help. RP 147; 168. Morrow died from his injury several days later. RP 129.

Baze was charged with assault in the first degree, robbery in the first degree and felony murder in the first degree based on the underlying felony of robbery. He was also charged in the alternative with felony murder in the second degree based on assault. All three counts carried a deadly weapon enhancement. The State's case turned on accomplice liability. There was no dispute that Churchill committed the assault and robbery. *See*, *e.g.*, RP 568-600 (State's closing argument).

The primary evidence of Baze's complicity came from his recorded statement to the Mason County detectives. At one point in the interview, the detectives asked Baze what he thought Churchill would do when Morrow showed up to buy heroin. In the original transcript of the

recording, which was presented to the court at the suppression hearing,
Baze's answer reads as follows:

Um maybe (inaudible) did I think he was gonna crack him in the skull like that with a baseball bat, no. And I and like I said if that were me I would not I would not have hit somebody in the head with a baseball bat that's. [sic]

PTr. Ex. 1 at 33.2

During the trial, however, the prosecutor prepared a revised transcript, which quotes the previously inaudible portion as follows: "Rough him up and take his money." Tr. Ex. 70 at 22. Over defense objection, the Court permitted the revised transcript to be shown to the jury while they listened to the recording. RP 379, 421.³

Baze was convicted as charged. At sentencing, the court vacated the second-degree felony murder charge based on double jeopardy (RP 643) but, over defense objection (RP 665), let the assault and robbery convictions stand (RP 672-73). The total sentence was 332 months. RP 670. CP 4-17.

² The text of PTr. Ex. 1 and Tr. Ex. 70 is in all capital letters. Throughout this brief, for ease of reading, I have altered the text by applying standard conventions for capitalization.

³ The recording and transcript played to the jury were redacted in some ways at the request of the defense. The primary redaction was the beginning portion in which Baze and the detectives discussed whether he would waive his *Miranda* rights. RP 335-59.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. BAZE'S STATEMENT SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUPPRESSED BECAUSE THE POLICE VIOLATED HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL

1. Relevant Facts

According to testimony at a CrR 3.5 suppression hearing,

Detective Rhoades investigated the assault against Shawn Morrow, which
took place on March 26th, 2012. RP 16-17. He suspected Stephen
Churchill was the perpetrator because he and his girlfriend, Jennifer
Hansen, previously alleged that Morrow burglarized their house. RP 1617.

Based on information from Hansen, Detective Rhoades arrested
Baze as well as Churchill on March 27. RP 18-19. After reading Baze his

Miranda⁴ rights, he told Baze he wanted to speak with him later. RP 19.

Baze asked Detective Rhoades how Shawn Morrow was doing. Id. Baze was then transported to the Mason County jail. RP 19-20.

Later that evening, Detectives Rhoades and Matt Ledford brought Baze from the jail to the Mason County Sheriff's Office for questioning. RP 20, 30. The detectives recorded the interview. RP 20-21.

⁴ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966).

Before beginning to question Baze, Detective Rhoades read Baze a *Miranda* warning and asked Baze if he would waive his rights. PTr. Ex. 1 at 2-3. Baze was hesitant.

Detective Rhoades: Travis having been advised of your rights do you wish to answer questions?

Baze: Well uh to be honest with you uh like as as of right now um I'm not sure can you tell me like I I've got no problem telling you guys what what went down.

Detective Rhoades: Okay.

Baze: How it went down.

Detective Rhoades: Okay.

Baze: And I've got I've got no problem being honest with you but did you am I *do I need an attorney?* [sic] (emphasis added)

Id. at 3. Detective Rhoades answered that it was Baze's decision. *Id.* Rhoades then said that if Baze decided he wanted an attorney, they would "not be able to do a statement tonight." *Id.*

Baze asked what this meant for him. *Id.* Detective Rhoades advised Baze that an attorney would tell him not to talk and that this put Baze in a "dilemma":

Detective Rhoades: ... I can pretty much guarantee you with great certainty that an attorney's gonna tell you not to make any statements or not to say anything to the police. That's their blanket their blanket statement that's the advice they give everybody.

Baze: Um, hm.

Detective Rhoades: But the dilemma that puts that puts you in or that puts us in is we've gotta go forward with this case then with the evidence that we already have and statements of the other people involved. So I mean it's up it's up to you right now if you want to tell your story in your own words. . . .

Id. at 4. Detective Rhoades then immediately advised Baze that while he had the right to talk to an attorney, he would not be able to talk to one that night because the court, rather than the detective, appoints an attorney. He also reiterated his opinion that an attorney would not let Baze talk to them in any event:

Detective Rhoades: ... [W]e can do that or if you'd like to talk to an attorney by all means you have that right okay. But the issue is the court is gonna appoint you an attorney I don't I don't appoint an attorney I'm not gonna be able to appoint an attorney tonight, there's not gonna be an attorney who's gonna come down here and talk to you and then let you talk to us tonight. That's just that just doesn't happen okay. Like I said an attorney's gonna say you know don't say anything. But at that point you know it's a roll of the dice as as far as you're concerned at that point.

PTr. Ex. 1 at 4.

The detectives continued to encourage Baze to waive his rights and talk. Detective Rhoades opined that from his experience, "people will tend to feel better after they've told their story." *Id.* at 7. Detective Ledford said that Baze was "a normal person . . . not some you know psychopath with no conscience." *Id.* at 8. Baze expressed concern about being in custody and about what was going to happen. *Id.* at 8-9. While

the detectives did not make any explicit promises and informed Baze that he was going to remain in custody regardless of what he said, Detective Ledford suggested to Baze that his "honesty" would serve him well. *Id.* at 9. Ledford said a judge or a prosecutor can see whether someone is honest, and implied that Baze's honesty would lead to more favorable bail conditions. *Id.*

After many long pauses, Baze ultimately signed a waiver and spoke with the detectives about the crime. *Id.* at 11.

Before trial, the court held a CrR 3.5 hearing to decide whether to admit Baze's statements. RP 12-71. Detective Rhoades was the sole testifying witness. RP 15-47. After the testimony, Baze argued that the *Miranda* warnings became defective in light of the detectives' later statements and that his waiver was invalid. RP 57-60.

The court rejected Baze's argument and admitted the statements.

The court found that Baze's question about Morrow's condition was a voluntary statement which was not made in response to interrogation. RP 65. (Baze does not contest that ruling.) The court found that the *Miranda* warnings given to Baze, both at arrest and before the recorded interrogation, were adequate. RP 66. The court determined that Baze had not invoked his right to counsel because his statement asking if he needed an attorney was equivocal. RP 66-67. Finally, the court ruled that the

detective's statements to Baze about the availability of an attorney, and the advice that an attorney would give, did not render the *Miranda* warning defective or Baze's waiver involuntary. RP 70.

2. Standard of Review

In confession cases, findings of fact entered following a CrR 3.5 hearing are verities on appeal if unchallenged. *State v. Broadaway*, 133 Wn.2d 118, 131, 942 P.2d 363, 371 (1997). Challenged findings are reviewed for substantial evidence. *Broadaway*, 133 Wn.2d at 131. Washington appellate courts review de novo whether the trial court derived proper conclusions of law from its findings of fact. *State v. Pierce*, 169 Wn. App. 533, 544, 280 P.3d 1158, *review denied*, 175 Wn.2d 1025, 291 P.3d 253 (2012).

In this case, the trial court correctly stated that there are no disputed facts relevant to the suppression issue. Finding of Fact 1, Supp. CP⁵ ____. The recorded interrogation speaks for itself. The Court then erred, however, by including a disputed legal conclusion in the findings of fact:

12. After the defendant's question regarding whether he needs an attorney, the detectives entered into a colloquy

⁵ Baze is filing a Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers with the Mason County Superior Court on the same date he files this brief with the Court of Appeals.

with the defendant that was limited to clarifying his decision whether to request an attorney in light of his possible equivocation. During this time, the detectives asked no questions about the circumstances of the investigation, nor did the defendant make any statements about the circumstances of the investigation.

Whether the detectives limited the colloquy to clarifying the defendant's wishes is a key issue in this case, particularly under the Article I, section 9 analysis. (See heading 6, below.) It is clearly a legal conclusion. A finding of fact is defined as an "assertion that a phenomenon has happened or is or will be happening independent of or anterior to any assertion as to its legal effect." Moulden & Sons, Inc. v. Osaka Landscaping & Nursery, Inc., 21 Wn. App. 194, 197, 584 P.2d 968, 970 (1978) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). In Moulden, whether the plaintiff had provided new cinders to the defendant was properly designated a finding of fact, but whether that act "cured" plaintiff's breach of contract should have been labeled a legal conclusion. Id. Similarly, the words spoken by the detectives to Mr. Baze are facts, but whether they merely "clarified" defendant's desire for an attorney, rather than encouraging him to speak without an attorney, is a legal conclusion.

"A conclusion of law erroneously described as a finding of fact is reviewed as a conclusion of law." *Willener v. Sweeting*, 107 Wn.2d 388, 394, 730 P.2d 45, 49 (1986).

In the alternative, if the issue is treated as a finding of fact, it is not supported by substantial evidence. As noted above, the detectives encouraged Baze to talk by telling him it would make him "feel better," that it might help him regarding the charges that would be filed, and that it could improve his chances of release on bail. Such talk went far beyond clarifying Baze's wishes. Further, although a discussion of how counsel could be obtained might in some cases fall within the topic of clarification, it was presented here in such a way as to encourage Baze to talk without a lawyer. *See* section 4, below.

The trial court's Finding of Fact 10 (that Baze understood his *Miranda* rights) appears to refer only to the *Miranda* warnings as initially read to Baze. If it were interpreted as a ruling that Baze understood his rights *after* his colloquy with the detectives, then it too should be treated as a legal conclusion. Once again, the words spoken by Baze and the detectives are not in dispute, but the legal effect of those words is at issue.⁶

3. <u>Legal Standards</u>

Under both the Constitution of the United States and the Washington State Constitution, there is a right against self-incrimination.

⁶ Alternatively, if the Court treats Finding of Fact 10 as a factual finding that Baze understood his rights even after his colloquy with the detectives, such a finding would not be supported by substantial evidence. *See* sections 4-6, below.

U.S. Const. amend. V ("No person . . . shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself. . . . "); Wash. Const. art. I, § 9 ("No person shall be compelled in any criminal case to give evidence against himself. . . . "); State v. Radcliffe, 164 Wn.2d 900, 905, 194 P.3d 250 (2008). To secure the privilege against self-incrimination, a person in custody must be advised before questioning begins that he has the right to remain silent, that anything he says can be used against him in a court of law, that he has the right to the presence of an attorney, and that if he cannot afford an attorney one will be appointed for him prior to any questioning if he so desires. *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 479. There is no requirement that the warnings be given in the precise language stated in Miranda. State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 582, 940 P.2d 546 (1997), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1007, 118 S.Ct. 1192, 140 L.Ed.2d 322 (1998). The question is whether the warnings reasonably and effectively conveyed to a suspect his rights. Brown, 132 Wn.2d at 582. However, a "Miranda" warning is constitutionally defective if it misleads a suspect into believing his or her right to counsel only arises in the future or is conditioned on some future event." State v. Teller, 72 Wn. App. 49, 52, 863 P.2d 590 (1993), review denied, 123 Wn.2d 1029, 877 P.2d 695 (1994).

"The right to the presence of an attorney includes the right to consultation with counsel both *before and during* questioning." *Brown*,

132 Wn.2d at 582 (emphasis in original). A person may waive these rights, but the waiver must be made voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently. *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 444.

The "relinquishment of the right must have been voluntary in the sense that it was the product of a free and deliberate choice rather than intimidation, coercion, or deception." Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 421, 106 S.Ct. 1135, 89 L.Ed.2d 410 (1986). The waiver is made knowingly and intelligently if the suspect had "a full awareness of both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it." Burbine, 475 U.S. at 421. The validity of a waiver is "a matter which depends in each case upon the particular facts and circumstances surrounding that case, including the background, experience, and conduct of the accused." Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 482, 101 S.Ct. 1880, 68 L.Ed.2d 378, reh'g denied, 452 U.S. 973, 101 S.Ct. 3128, 69 L.Ed.2d 984 (1981) (internal quotation omitted). "Only if the totality of the circumstances surrounding the interrogation reveal both an uncoerced choice and the requisite level of comprehension may a court properly conclude that the *Miranda* rights have been waived." Burbine, 475 U.S. at 421 (internal quotations omitted). The State has the "heavy burden" of establishing the defendant's waiver. Miranda, 384 U.S. at 475.

4. <u>Baze's Waiver Was Invalid Because The Detectives</u>

<u>Qualified And Contradicted The Miranda Warning, And</u>

<u>Misled Him About The Availability And Usefulness Of A</u>

<u>Lawyer, While Urging Baze To Give A Statement Before</u>

<u>Contacting A Lawyer</u>

The warning initially given by Officer Rhoades to Baze, standing alone, was adequate:

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