# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

V.

TRAVIS C. BAZE, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Mason County The Honorable Amber L. Finlay

No. 12-1-00123-5

# BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MICHAEL DORCY
Mason County Prosecuting Attorney

By
TIM HIGGS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA #25919

521 N. Fourth Street PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 PH: (360) 427-9670 ext. 417

#

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

You have the right at this time to talk to a lawyer and to have him present with you while you're being questioned. If you cannot afford to hire a lawyer one will be appointed to represent you before any questioning if you wish. You can decide at any time to exercise these rights, not answer any questions or make any statements.

PTr. Ex. 1 at 3.

Thus, Baze was not told that the appointment of counsel was contingent upon charges being filed or upon any other contingent future event. And, the fact that Baze had the right to have counsel present during

State's Response Brief Case No. 44168-3-II

questioning was highlighted when the detectives told him that it was the court, and not the detectives, who appointed counsel, and that if he wanted counsel they would not be able to take his statement that night. *Id.* at 3-4. As distinguished from the facts of *Tetzlaff*, the rights explained to Baze correctly informed him of his right to counsel. *Duckworth v. Eagan*, 492 U.S. 195, 202-206, 109 S. Ct. 2875, 106 L. Ed. 2d 166 (1989); *State v. Teller*, 72 Wn. App. 49, 52-53, 863 P.2d 590 (1993).

Baze asserts that "the detectives vitiated the written warning by telling [him] he could not talk to a lawyer before his court hearing (even though he was not clearly indigent) and by denigrating the value of speaking to a lawyer." Appellant's Opening Brief at 19. But Baze provides no citation to the record where he was told that he could not talk to an attorney that night; nor does he provide any citation to the record where there is substantial evidence, or any evidence, that he believed that he could not talk to an attorney that night.

The record shows that Baze never asked for an attorney. PTr. Ex. 1 at 2-11. The record also shows that he was correctly told, without reference to whether the attorney was public or private, that he had the *right* to an attorney *at that time*. *Id.* at 3. But Baze never presented an

State's Response Brief Case No. 44168-3-II

attorney and never asked for an attorney. He was told that if he could not afford an attorney, one would be appointed *prior to any questioning*. *Id*. He was told that if he asked for an attorney, there would be no questioning that night. *Id*. at 3-4. He was told that if he wanted a court-appointed attorney, it would be morning before he could see the judge and have the court appoint an attorney. *Id*. at 4. "If the police cannot provide appointed counsel, *Miranda* requires only that the police not question a suspect unless he waives his right to counsel." *Duckworth v. Eagan*, 492 U.S. 195, 204, 109 S. Ct. 2875, 106 L. Ed. 2d 166 (1989). As in *Duckworth*, detectives in the instant case "did just that." *Id*.

Even though he was correctly and bluntly advised that he would remain under arrest and in jail regardless whether he gave a statement, Baze, of his own free will and volition, decided to waive the right to have counsel present and decided to give a statement. *Id.* at 5, 11. Baze asserts that his freewill was overcome because the detectives tried to convince him that it was in his best interest to give a statement and that he was misled about the availability and desirability of counsel. Appellant's Opening Brief at 16-20. But Baze has cited to no evidence in the record to

State's Response Brief Case No. 44168-3-II

show that he was, in fact, convinced against his will or that he was misled about anything.

Speculation by interrogators that cooperation by a defendant will have a positive effect does not render a statement involuntary. *See, e.g.*, *United States v. Guerrero*, 847 F.2d 1363 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1988). The Ninth Circuit has indicated "there is nothing inherently wrong with efforts to create a favorable climate for confession." *Clark v. Murphy*, 317 F.3d 1038, 1049 (9th Cir.2003) (quoting *Hawkins v. Lynaugh*, 844 F.2d 1132, 1140 (5th Cir.1988).

"[A]ny evidence that the accused was threatened, tricked, or cajoled into a waiver will, of course, show that the defendant did not voluntarily waive his" right to counsel. *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 476, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966). But, "coercive police activity is a necessary predicate to the finding that a confession is not 'voluntary' within the meaning of the Due Process Clause...." *Colorado v. Connelly*, 479 U.S. 157, 167, 107 S. Ct. 515, 93 L. Ed. 2d 473 (1986).

Here, Baze was neither threatened nor promised anything in exchange for his waiver. PTr. Ex. 1 at 1-8; RP 30-31. He was truthfully told that if he asked for a lawyer, all questioning would cease (and he

State's Response Brief Case No. 44168-3-II

would not be able to give a statement). PTr. Ex. 1 at 3-5. Baze was not obligated to remain silent; he had the right to choose to give a statement. Connecticut v. Barrett, 479 U.S. 523, 529, 107 S. Ct. 828, 93 L. Ed. 2d 920 (1987). Because Baze's decision to give a statement was "a voluntary decision" that "was made with full awareness and comprehension of all the information Miranda requires police to convey," his waiver was valid. Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 424, 106 S. Ct. 1135, 89 L. Ed. 2d 410 (1986).

Whether an accused's statements given during a custodial interrogation are admissible as evidence is to be determined by use of the totality of the circumstances test. *State v. Unga*, 165 Wn.2d 95, 100-03, 196 P.3d 645, 648-49 (2008). The test is applied "to ascertain whether the accused in fact knowingly and voluntarily decided to forgo his rights to remain silent and to have the assistance of counsel." *Id.* at 100, quoting *Fare v. Michael C.*, 442 U.S. 707, 724–25, 99 S.Ct. 2560, 61 L.Ed.2d 197 (1979), and citing *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 226, 93 S.Ct. 2041, 36 L.Ed.2d 854 (1973); *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 475–77, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966). Included in the circumstances relevant to the totality of the circumstances test are:

State's Response Brief Case No. 44168-3-II

the "crucial element of police coercion;" the length of the interrogation; its location; its continuity; the defendant's maturity, education, physical condition, and mental health; and whether the police advised the defendant of the rights to remain silent and to have counsel present during custodial interrogation. *Withrow v. Williams*, 507 U.S. 680, 693–94, 113 S.Ct. 1745, 123 L.Ed.2d 407 (1993) (and cases cited therein).

Unga at 101. The Fifth Amendment protects a person from being compelled to give evidence against himself. Unga at 101-02. But, as argued supra, confessions remain an important part of police work, and individuals have a right to confess. See State's argument, supra at p. 18 (citing Connecticut v. Barrett, 479 U.S. 523, 529, 107 S. Ct. 828, 93 L. Ed. 2d 920 (1987); and, at p. 21 (citing Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 478, 444, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966)).

When applying the totality of the circumstances test, the reviewing court "does 'not ask whether the confession would have been made in the absence of the interrogation." *Unga* at 102, quoting *Miller v. Fenton,* 796 F.2d 598, 604 (3d Cir.1986); and citing *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 285, 111 S. Ct. 1246, 1251, 113 L. Ed. 2d 302 (1991). As the Court in *Unga* explained, "[i]f the test was whether a statement would have been made but for the law enforcement conduct, virtually no statement would be deemed voluntary because few people give incriminating

State's Response Brief Case No. 44168-3-II

statements in the absence of some kind of official action." *Unga* at 102, quoting *United States v. Guerrero*, 847 F.2d 1363, 1366 n. 1 (9th Cir.1988). The correct question is whether the defendant's will was overborn by "coercive police activity." *Unga* at 101, quoting *Colorado v. Connelly*, 479 U.S. 157, 167, 107 S.Ct. 515, 93 L.Ed.2d 473 (1986). This finding "is a necessary predicate to the finding that a confession is not 'voluntary.'" *Id*.

Applying the totality of the circumstances test to the facts of the instant case, there was no police coercion of any kind. PTr. Ex. 1 at 2-11; RP 15-47. There was nothing unusual or excessive about the length of the interrogation; nor was there anything coercive about the location or continuity. *Id.* The record shows that Baze was in good mental health and that his thought processes were not impaired by drugs, youth, immaturity or other causes. RP 31-32. Baze was correctly advised that he had the right to remain silent and that he had the right to an attorney during and before answering any questions. RP 22-23; PTr. Ex. 1 at 2-3. Baze had prior experience with the criminal justice system. PTr. Ex. 1 at 8. Baze knew that he did not have to answer questions and that if he asked for an attorney, questioning would immediately stop. *Id.* at 3-8, 10-11. With

State's Response Brief Case No. 44168-3-II

these rights and circumstances known to him, Baze voluntarily proceeded without asking for counsel and gave a voluntary statement. *Id.* at 10-11. Thus, there is no legal basis to exclude his statement from evidence. *Unga* at 101-03.

5) Baze asserts that detectives' statements about the availability of a lawyer were misleading and not in compliance with CrR 3.1(c), thereby making Baze's waiver of his right to counsel invalid. But Baze did not raise this issue below, and the record is, therefore, insufficient for review. Additionally, Baze did not ask for an attorney, and there is no evidence that he desired an attorney.

As argued at page 12, *supra*, the State asserts that this Court should not consider this part of Baze's argument because it alleges nonconstitutional error for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn. 2d 918, 926-27, 155 P.3d 125 (2007); *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 332-33, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

On the merits, however, the record shows that at the time of arrest, Baze was correctly advised of his *Miranda* rights, which included the right to counsel. RP 19, 22-23. Baze was specifically told:

You have the right at this time to a lawyer and to have him present... with you while you're being questioned. If you cannot afford to hire a lawyer one will be appointed to represent you

State's Response Brief Case No. 44168-3-II

before any questioning, if you wish, and you can decide at any time to exercise these rights and not answer any questions or make any statements.

Id. at 22-23.

The record shows that Baze was correctly advised of his rights.

Washington court rules require that:

- (1) When a person is taken into custody that person shall immediately be advised of the right to a lawyer. Such advice shall be made in words easily understood, and it shall be stated expressly that a person who is unable to pay a lawyer is entitled to have one provided without charge.
- (2) At the earliest opportunity a person in custody who desires a lawyer shall be provided access to a telephone, the telephone number of the public defender or official responsible for assigning a lawyer, and any other means necessary to place the person in communication with a lawyer.

CrR 3.1(c). The record shows that the first part of this rule, CrR 3.1(c)(1), was complied with in this case. But compliance with subsection (2) requires more analysis, because Baze never raised this issue in the trial court and the record, therefore, is undeveloped.

Immediately after his arrest and advisement of rights, Baze was transported to the Mason County Jail. RP 19. It was not until later, after Baze had been booked into the jail, that detectives went to the jail and escorted him to the sheriff's office for a formal interview. RP 19-20, 38. At the start of the formal interview, Baze was again informed of his rights,

State's Response Brief Case No. 44168-3-II

in virtually the same language as quoted above. RP 23. Baze said that he understood those rights. RP 25.

"When a person in custody unequivocally requests a lawyer, police are obligated under CrR 3.1(c)(2) to make all reasonable efforts to put that person in contact with a lawyer at the earliest opportunity." *State v. Pierce*, 169 Wn. App. 533, 537, 280 P.3d 1158, 1161 *review denied*, 175 Wn.2d 1025, 291 P.3d 253 (2012). Where this rule is violated, the remedy is suppression of the tainted evidence. *Id.* 

But nowhere in the record is there any indication that Baze ever desired or asked for an attorney. Because Baze did not raise this issue in the trial court, there is no evidence in the record to show the normal booking procedures of the jail or to show whether Baze could have contacted counsel from the jail had he so desired. Although there is no indication that he contacted counsel from the jail, there is also no indication in the record to show that he wanted to contact counsel or that he asked for an attorney. Nor is there any record to show that he did not contact counsel. Had this issue been raised in the trial court, it follows that some evidence would have been presented on this issue.

State's Response Brief Case No. 44168-3-II

To the contrary, the record shows that Baze never asked for an attorney. CrR 3.1(c)(2) does not apply unless the suspect unequivocally asks for an attorney. *Pierce* at 545, citing *State v. Whitaker*, 133 Wn. App. 199, 217, 135 P.3d 923 (2006). Additionally, "[t]he rule applies only to a person 'who desires a lawyer'." *Whitaker* at 217. There is no evidence in the record of the instant case that Baze desired a lawyer; the only evidence is that he asked detectives for advice about whether they thought he needed a lawyer.

When Baze asked detectives for advice about whether they thought he needed a lawyer, it was during the evening after normal business hours. PTr. Ex. 1 at p.2-3. In response, the detectives gave pessimistic advice and suggested there was no lawyer at that time of night. *Id.* at 3-5. But there is no evidence that Baze was actually deterred by the detectives' advice or that he reacted to, or made any decision based upon, the detectives' pessimistic advice. Because Baze did not raise this issue in the trial court, there also is no record of whether the detectives' predictions were overly pessimistic or whether counsel would have been available if Baze would have actually asked for or desired counsel.

State's Response Brief Case No. 44168-3-II

On appeal, Baze argues that he was told that his right to counsel was contingent upon the occurrence of a future event when he was told that it was the judge, and not the detectives, who appoint counsel. Appellant's Opening Brief at 21-22. Aside from the fact that there is no evidence in the record to indicate that Baze was misled or that he misunderstood his rights when he gave his statement, the evidence that is in the record shows that Baze was informed that he had the right to counsel right then, at that moment, and to have counsel present during questioning. PTr. Ex. 2-3. Detectives pessimistically opined and predicted that, because it was evening, counsel likely would not be located before the following morning. *Id.* at 3-4. But the fact that Baze was informed, and understood, that if he asked for counsel the interview would stop, demonstrates and reinforces the finding that Baze knew that access to and the presence of counsel at that very moment was a right, because it was clear that if that right was not satisfied at that moment then the questioning must stop at that moment. Id. at 3-4.

With this right in mind, Baze never asked for an attorney and never indicated that he desired counsel. PTr. Ex. 1 at 2-11. Beyond asking detectives one time for advice about whether he needed an attorney, Baze

State's Response Brief Case No. 44168-3-II

never mentioned an attorney. *Id.* As argued *supra*, CrR 3.1(c)(2) does not apply unless Baze asked for and desired an attorney. *Pierce* at 545; *Whitaker* at 217. But Baze never asked for an attorney, and there is no evidence in the record that he desired an attorney. PTr. Ex. 1 at 2-11. Still more, the fact that he knew the interview would stop if he asked for an attorney, yet he did not ask for an attorney, shows that he, in fact, did not desire an attorney.

Finally, although the State continues to assert both that Baze should not be permitted to raise this claim for the first time on appeal and that CrR 3.1(c)(2) was not violated in this case, the State also asserts that any violation of this court rule, if one did occur, would be subject to non-constitutional harmless error analysis. *State v. Greer*, 62 Wn. App. 779, 790 n.4, 815 P.2d 295, 302 (1991). Nonconstitutional error is harmless if, within reasonable probability, it did not affect the verdict. *State v. Zwicker*, 105 Wn.2d 228, 243, 713 P.2d 1101 (1986). Within the record of this case, there are no facts from which to discern that had Baze desired or asked for counsel, counsel would have appeared, or that his statement would have been any different than what it is.

State's Response Brief Case No. 44168-3-II

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